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Biographical Note

Campbell Niven was born in Boston, Massachusetfdamrember 11, 1929 and moved to
Brunswick, Maine when he was two years old. Henalitel Hebron Academy and graduated
from Bowdoin College in 1952. He worked for Dup@urporation in Delaware from 1952 to
1954. He was drafted in 1954 and was stationedimie with the Army until 1956. In 1961 he
became publisher of the "Brunswick Record" and'Beth Daily Times", which he then
combined into the "Times Record", which he publ&hatil his retirement in 1999.
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Transcript

Nick Christie: This is an interview with Campbell Niven at bifice at theBrunswick Record
in Brunswick, Maine. The date is Wednesday, JWith,2001, and Nick Christie is the
interviewer.

Campbell Niven: The name of the newspaper is actuallyTimaes Record.

NC: TimesRecord. Mr. Niven, could you please state and spell yolimfame?

CN: Okay, Campbell Niven, C-A-M-P-B-E-L-L is thedirname, Niven, N-I-V-E-N.



NC: And where and when were you born?
CN: | was born in Boston, Massachusetts Novemberi®29.
NC: How long did you stay in Boston?

CN: Two years. Moved to Brunswick at that timerg with my parents who were moving
here.

NC: So you stayed in Brunswick for most of youefif

CN: Yeah, yeah. | wentto school here, went torbelAcademy for a couple of years.
Graduated from Bowdoin in 1952. Went to work forddat down in Delaware 1952 to '54. Was
drafted in ‘54, spent most of my time in Europdhia Army, came back to Brunswick in 1956,
became advertising manager of our local weekly papieich was thdrunswick Record at that
time. Five years later became publisher of bothatbekly paper in Brunswick and the small
daily, theBath Daily Times. Both family owned, my grandfather had bought thal 8-, that
Bath Daily Timesin 1897. He died in 1960 and | succeeded himuasigher of that and then,
eventually in 1967 merged the two papers to foreiltmes Record. So that’s what where my
active career, | retired three years ago, riglardfaving celebrated a hundred years of my
grandfather and myself running the paper in Bath(USintelligible phrase). He did the bulk of
the work, sixty-three years. | only did thirty-sev so.

NC: You're retired now.
CN: Yes.
NC: Butyou're still active in the office.

CN: No, well no, yes and no. I'm active in a véayrief things. I'm on the board of thagme-
-Curtis) Library, the budget chairman of that. I'm on @@l purchasing cooperative for daily
newspapers. I'm on a committee at the collegeculimrently one of the two co-chairmen of a
campaign to build a statue of Joshua ChamberlaBrunswick, since he lived most of his life
there. And a lot of other civic activities whichearery interesting. But | don't have day-to-day
responsibility, my son is the publisher. I've hélvat little hide-away office which has two
chairs in it and that's enough. And there is dea@mce room here that, maybe have a meeting,
but | play a lot of golf in the summer and my wéfied | do some traveling and so forth. But, so
this is a little nest to get away and do some thing

NC: Going back to the beginning, what were youepts’ names?

CN: Paul and Dorothy Niven. The paper is, my mosh@ther was the one who had bought
the paper in 1897. His name was Frank Nicholas.aldo had a son who is my uncle and is
going to reach the age of a hundred in Decembérplays golf every day of the year that he
can. Rainy days he doesn't play anymore, but wikerhe does and he enjoys great health and
good mind and so forth and so on. We hope longévia continuing thing in the family.



NC: You grew up in Brunswick.

CN: Yes.

NC: And you went to high school here.

CN: | went to high school for three years and th@ouple years at Hebron.
NC: How did you decide to go to Bowdoin?

CN: Well, it was a school obviously | knew, knewlweévly decision came down to between
Williams and Bowdoin. Williams was certainly arrattive alternative, but it wasn't as good
then as it got shortly after that and became arssgi®ol | think. But the thing that decided me
was that there was always the feeling in the b&ckyomind that | might come back to settle
here and that relationship with the college wowddalbvery pleasant one. It turned out to be that.
In between, | decided | wasn't going to come lmkhat, but basically because of a political
conflict, a generational conflict with my fathdrle was a conservative Republican, | was a
liberal Democrat. He was, it was at the time whemfanted to conserve and not take chances,
converting from a weekly to daily was a major charand a dangerous one. So there were a lot
of things that were going to be difficult for bathus. It was a difficult five years on both sides
At a point the family decided that | should be thblisher and that resolved it. And from then
on it's been a very, very great time, and the Bawdonnection has certainly been very helpful.

NC: What did you major in at Bowdoin?
CN: Majored in economics with an equal number afrses in government.
NC: Soyou had a political interest at a young age.

CN: Yes, yes. | had a brother who is now deceaskd,was in journalism, he was, worked
for CBS, worked with Ed Murrow and Fred Friendlydasome of those others. Was
correspondent for CBS in England, and Moscow, aarisRnd so forth. And so he had been
interested in that. But I'd been active, when weaw@ungsters up there, the only thing you
could be active in if you were a liberal was tottwynove the Republicans toward a more liberal
group. Like Margaret Chase Smith, for instanceabse it was all the old boy network and
there were no, virtually no Democratic public officolders except in Lewiston and Biddeford
and so forth. Very different from how it became.

NC: So you grew up in a conservative household, Republican household.
CN: In a Republican household, yes, yeah. And#ide, the political discussions at the
dinner table usually led to difficult, difficult &gities. Eventually we tried to avoid those but

both he, my brother and | were actively items itivites.

NC: How did you develop what later became an istarethe Democratic Party coming out of



a family that was Republican?

CN: Because the parents were so one-sided orrtigydarly my father, who would say
Franklin D. Roosevelt has never done anything gaadl. So we would obviously read more
about it and then we'd come back and challengeyandgust kept battering them. They would
have answers that didn't make any sense. So gbugep, we just started boning up, becoming
much more aware of what was happening in the paliscene and so forth. And challenging all
of these remarks that were made by the parentd #iwpolitical (nintelligible word). So it

was a, that inspired us greatly to do that.

NC: What was Bowdoin like when you attended it?

CN: Bowdoin was over the hill a bit at that tim@/e had a president who was, retired the
same year | graduated. But he'd been in officghiioty-five years. And he'd done no capital
campaigns and so, it was, the board was run b thréour senior board members who got
lifetime tenure for trustees. They didn't haveandatory retirement age so we had people
serving long beyond what they should have beengdoinwas a, | think, frankly two years into
my career, | was so frustrated with the qualityhaf teachers that | seriously thought of stepping
aside. | just thought it was a waste of, gettmfe a waste of time. | actually went back to an
old prep school teacher who | admired greatly ggehsthe weekend with him, and we talked
about it and he convinced me to go back and fingshwhich | did.

But it was not in good shape. Which did, got aditwkward because | knew a lot of the
professors as we'd grown up, and Brunswick wasadl $own. There were only, oh, three or
four thousand people at most at that time and,gilylsmaller than that, but the, so it was poor
then. It really changed when President James Btemdes took over in 1952. He was a
chemist from Brown, had a lot of energy, built thigh rise tower, senior center down here, the
library, and did a major capital campaign. Gohg/s going. He also set on, pushed people out
that needed to be out, he did work on that areaudt in a lot of young, interesting young
Turks who were good faculty people. They evenyuetlafed under his strong leadership and
some of them left. But that was a time of majorr@eand major improvement.

But the era that will be long remembered is the thia¢ just ended with Bob Edwards as
president. Just an absolutely remarkable recoetioievement in eleven years, just a marvelous
thing.

NC: | was wondering if you could tell me about HenttRoss Brown.

CN: Herbert Brown, yes, Herbert Brown was a chaaistrteacher. | took his course for three
days. The problem was that he was a member cfaime fraternity that | was a member of. And
| had been coming to functions long before | emdewdoin. But Herbert was the speaker at
all kinds of events and so, and | had heard every shat he had ever told. And, | went to him
after three days, | said, “Herbert, | just candain't do this. | know the punch lines. | know
every single one of those, and | just can't sibdlgh a whole year of listening to those. They're
wonderful stories and everybody ought to have achao hear them, but | can't take them, |
can't take them again.” So he was delightful, geae of Lafayette, came here, was taken into



the fraternity here and was very active, intergstiWas moderator of our town meeting for a
number of years when we had a, we had had a guywabka lawyer and had been president,
well, was the chairman of the, presided at the,eratdr at the town meetings for fifty years.
And then Herbert took over and did, | don't knoifteén, twenty years after that.

NC: What did he teach?
CN: He taught English, first.

NC: As a side note, you mentioned the fraterniti@sy the fraternal system is no longer active
on the Bowdoin campus.

CN: Right.
NC: At what time did that transition take place?

CN: Only @nintelligible word), about six years ago | think the vote was takidiaybe five.
There was a committee set up the year before tly $ifie. Came to a recommendation to the
board that fraternities be abolished within a fgear period of time. After the vote was taken
by the board, no more students could be inductedfiaternities. That took place, it was
obviously discouraging to some older alumni in jgaiar, but it got, the vote was unanimous on
the governing boards. Fraternities had gone frgpnasenting, when | was there ninety-eight
percent of the kids were in fraternities and yotj fee induction was done in the, the rush was
done in the first week, so it was not a all jockd all, scholars and so forth. So there was a
pretty good mix in all of the houses. That changeer time. At the end they were only serving
about thirty percent of the students. And it wasas even more distorted for the females
because out of that thirty percent it was thirtyefmale and twenty-five percent female. So it
was a very, it was not a, and the females werdéreated equally. They just, they tried to
enforce that but never really got it going. And tiouses were just out of control. The alumni
had gotten discouraged because the kids were vainggthe buildings and so forth. It was a
move whose time had come. Williams got rid of tharh960 and so we were a long time
behind them.

But, they've done it well, | think. They've acadr or are acquiring all of the fraternity houses.
Investing substantial monies, about two millionlaid on each one, to renovate them and to
meet the standards of the Disabilities Act andosthf Each one now has to have elevators and
(unintelligible phrase). And what they're doing, the system they'veipiat place is all the
freshmen and sophomores live on campus in theratll dormitories, which have been
renovated over time. But each of those brick dtongs has a house to which they're assigned,
and that's where they can go for social eventgpaniies and so forth. And this gives them a
chance to get away from the dorm. And | think & point, by the end of this summer they will
have six or seven of the houses set up for thatreerd| think the goal was maybe ten of them
all told. And you will stay, in effect you'll befdiated with that particular social house through
your career at the college. And so, it's a worfriogress, but it's gotten a lot of recognition by
other colleges that are looking at the problemg'tednaving with this. Each of these houses has
students living in it. But there are also some wjapass men there who are responsible to the



college for what goes on in that area. So thetacdy have the supervision, which just was not
the case for them before that.

So | think they've, | think they've made considégiyogress. And actually there was a group of
about thirteen small liberal arts colleges who méWashington for a seminar put on by one of
the foundations to discuss this, and they wentradpthey asked each one what they were doing
to try to improve student life and when, Bowdoinswhe last one they asked to speak and tell
them what they were doing. And Dartmouth, who hawken just before that, said, let's hear
from Bowdoin because they're the only ones whalaneg anything that we know that looks

like what we ought to be doing. And that foundatighink gave Bowdoin an eighty or ninety
thousand dollar additional subsidy for, to try wghspread the word to other schools, on how
they're doing it.

NC: Have you encountered Judith Isaacson throughwork on the board?
CN: Judith Isaacson. Oh yes, sure, she was orotuel here, yeah, when she did her book.
NC: | canimagine she probably had some strongnigebbout fraternities as well, or -?

CN: Well, she, yeah, you know, she was dean ugthed she had, yeah, she had strong
feelings. There were a lot of us who just felietame time to get rid of it. | happened to be on
the selection committee that picked Bob Edwardsl Bab had worked with theungintelligible
word) and had been president of a college amth{elligible word) so he'd had a lot of
experience. At the first meeting, he came ovenfRaris to be interviewed, and his first...
“What are you going to do about fraternities?” fTwas his first question. And it, each time we
ever met with him, “What are you going to do abaternities?” And so it was right out front
that we all, there was a problem there. Who wasgo lead it, and how it was going to get
done was the question. He took a couple of stegsttit going and, but at the end he made a
speech to the alumni on reunion weekend and odtliviey he thought they, fraternities ought to
go. But then he stepped back from that, just didparticipate in the committee, with the
committee that was studying student life. He ditlaome to any of their meetings. He did
come to one meeting at the end of the session Wiegngave their final report and listened to
that, but that was all. So he did the, I think jire right thing. He, there was no question where
he stood, he was firmly anti-fraternity. But th@mamittee was run by a board member named
Donald Kurtz who's now chairman of the board o$tees, and just did a superb job, the whole
committee did. They came unanimous, the boarde weanimous. It was just an open and shut
case.

NC: Now, going back a ways, you said that you engedorking at Dupont for a while.
CN: Yeah.
NC: What did you do there?

CN: | went to Dupont as a management trainee. Aaiatwo work in a mill down south of,
about eighty miles south of Wilmington where théng big product was with nylon. But then



they were launching the Dacron products and sosliwan that, the start up of that, which made
the work much more interesting. But it was a vietgresting management training program
which helped me immensely when we were runningsiniess later on. It was a very helpful
activity. | thought it was a very good companywds, | got involved in things at my plant that,
for instance, using an all girl crew instead of then doing the heavy lifting and the girls, the
men bitching because the girls were getting paeédstime amount and things like that. So | set
up a crew that, of women who said, “Well we carththt; we'll do that.” So they did it for two
weeks. Well, in that two weekar(ntelligible word) people from all over the company coming
to see Niven's All Girl Dof Crew it was called besa they were taking the yarn off of, doffing
the machine. And so it got to be a very intergséativity, and then | went up to Wilmington to
make reports on how this worked. And so after weeks the guys said, “Okay, we give in, we
know they can do it,” we've always known they codidit but, you know, we just, it was just
one of thoseunintelligible word) things that they went through.

The other thing was, it was the first time I'd egene to work where you had a Black problem.
And | got active in the Jaycees in there, but etbat we got in the -

NC: What are the JC's?

CN: Junior Chamber of Commerce. But we had a weeyesting time, we had, there were
ceramic water fountains in the corridors, and tweye black and white. And, so you know, the
company recruited I've forgotten how many, maykiedn people in my class that came in at the
time | did to start the management training progradnd we were just appalled by this, all of us
came from North. So we went to the general manageérsaid, now this, we just can't do
anything, we can't have this. And they said, “Welhen those signs wear out, the black and
white signs, we're going to replace those ceramvd® with steel fountains inside the rooms
along the way rather than being in the corridddd me what of a safety function because people
bump into them and stuff like that. So as soothag you know, that'll age eventually.”

Well, we got the message and we came back and gexip meeting. And we worked a three-
shift basis. You worked days one time and, foumelve, and then the graveyard shift for a
week or so. So we had a chance to walk througpldre during the night, and we took
sandpaper with us and we would just go and ddla here and a little there, and about a month
later, by God, the signs had disappeared. And em to the general manager and said, “You
know, the signs are gone...” By God he followed tlglmuhe said, “Okay.” And that was one
little step but it was sort of, it was an interegtone. But then we got involved politically at
building a Park for the, in the town. And then Wigole battle came down as to how many days
a week would be for blacks and how many days itld/be for whites. And that was the, that
was the, that was a, we stopped progress on itubease couldn't get what we thought was fair.
And the only question was, was it going to be fdays for whites and three for blacks, or the
other way around.

NC: This was who could use the park on what days.

CN: Yeah, it was going to be separate days, itvea®r, they said they would not have
interracial park.



NC: Really?

CN: Oh, yeah.

NC: What years was this?

CN: This was 1952 to '54. So -
NC: In Delaware.

CN: In Delaware. And a little town callednintelligible phrase). And eventually they agreed
to a thirty-forty, a three-four. Actually the paflur to three was about right for the ratio o th
white population to the black, but the whites h#teo opportunities that the blacks didn't have,
and so we just insisted it be that and finally thatt. Actually, we also had to get involved in
elections to get one guy, get a new guy on thedotwareplace one who was against us. We
finally got that, and so we did get it done buvds a, that was, and it was the first time | ever
saw how politics worked. | always had wondered ldoayou guarantee that somebody is going
to, if you pay him ten dollars, gonna vote.... Amgbt to know one of the Democratic politicians
there and he said, “Come on over, I'll show youmedo the election Monday morning.” So |
sat in his car and what he did was, he went invaeld, and he used a blank piece of paper, put
a blank piece of paper in, kept the ballot in lesket, the blank ballot. So then he went back to
his car, filled in the ballot the way he wanted.dAhen he'd call to the guys coming up looking
for ten bucks which was going to be their partyt tight and so forth, and he'd say “Okay,
here's, drop this ballot in and bring a clean amekfzere’s your ten dollars.” Simple as a whistle,
and that’s how you did it. | mean, that was the weey did it. And then, in the black
community that night, the party was really roariigvas just a wonderful time.

NC: So what, you mentioned that you were politicailvolved, or politically active when you
were at Dupont in Delaware. What was your specifie politically when you were there?

CN: Well, there it was just in the local politidswas in the Jaycees and trying to make
changes and get that park through and to try t@ wodhe of the other restrictions. And also to
push Dupont on the fact that all the time | wasehthe highest position that a black rose to was
a cafeteria worker. There just were no opportufatyblacks to be moving upward. Toward the
end of it they just were beginning to get some gadion on it.

NC: In'54.

CN: Yeah, gnintelligible word).

NC: Now in '54 you said you went to Europe, throtigg draft.

CN: | was drafted and, yeah, | spent, well, | tbakic training at Fort Dix, clerk typist

training at Fort Dix, and then went overseas. Werirankfurt, Germany for six months, where
the Army had a public information office and | wassigned to that area, which was a very nice



duty. | had a car for six months and went dowth®railroad station to pick up dispatches from
Berlin and other areas. We did various and sutabks, but it was in a home which had a
swimming pool and tennis court and so forth that been taken over by the Army for them.
Outdoor dining. And then when, they closed thatnldecause the sort of peace treaty was
signed, and the reason we were there was thabthespondents ran this club and they bought
their liquor through the Army at discounted ratgs, and when that peace treaty was signed, or
that document was signed, they no longer had gloatany benefit from that. So we were
consolidated down in Hamburg, but that was a goksette to be for a year or so.

NC: You were in the service for two years?

CN: Yeah, yeah.

NC: So when you came back in '56, you came here.
CN: Yeah.

NC: And what did you do?

CN: The area that was a big challenge was the tisingy situation. Before | came back, if
you wanted to run an ad in either of the papeBrimswick or Bath, you had to bring it to the
newspaper. And shortly before | came back, anddaason | did come back, was that there was
a real panic up here because two radio stationdéed set up. There'd never been any
competition before in town, and so my father arelghople who, at the Bath paper, my
grandfather was still running that paper, just wgaricked on what they were going to do. So
that was, there was a real call for help and | chawk and took over; did that job for five years
before | took over the management of the paper.

And we were on, we were in rented buildings in baammunities, with very old equipment. It
turned out to be a wonderful time because the eeliology world came in and suddenly | had
to work from very archaic ways of printing, Guterdpgould have recognized everything we
were doing, you know, it was heavy change. Theafa sudden the whole thing changed, the
need for, we had a, at the time we changed somdewwology we had, we could have gotten
rid of thirty percent of our employees. We chosétn, we chose to set up a division of print,
other newspapers to print advertising circulars thiatl type of thing. So, we trained those
people. But that was a major change for them Issceue had to go on a, in order to be efficient,
get producing up and volume, you know, to take ohiteg customers you had to run twenty-
four hours a day. Which we've been doing for yeass. We did that, God, I've forgotten, '68,
in '68 | guess.

But the, so it was a wonderful time to be in theibass. We had, we did not have a union so we
could make cha-, do things with management, appravel talk to the employees and outline
how we were doing it and what we were going toadal they saw that life was much better this
way and cleaner and so forth. And so it was a wdabigme with bringing in new technology,

and we were the twenty-first daily newspaper indbentry to convert to offset printing. And

S0, you know, it's just a, it was a super timedabtive in that. I've been active in associations



for, over time president of the Maine Press Asdamrmatwice president of the New England
Newspaper Association, and the New England Dailw$paper Association. And now I'm a
founding director of a co-op for independent daigwspapers. We have four hundred and forty-
seven daily newspapers that are members of oupgrod so forth and so on.

NC: A lot of them running out of Maine?

CN: Oh no, this is all over the country, this isfély states. We have members in each of the
fifty states. And combined daily circulation ofrayroup it on average be eight million two
hundred thousand. That would put us third, | thimkd largest in the country. We're an
independent group and people buy what they waattir the co-op, we negotiate newspaper
purchase rates and prices and so forth. But,it\seth the KJ is one of our member publications,
the Gannett papers, all the Gannett papers upanenmembers of our co-op.

NC: So when leadership switched from your fatheaisds to your hands -?

CN: Yeah, well, | succeeded my grandfather in Beltlen he died. And then a year later the
family decided to, they made me publisher and niyegiabecame emeriti.

NC: And you both had very different political vatueWas there any direction change?

CN: Oh sure, oh yeah, yeah. Well, you know, migdaivas on the board of Central Maine
Power Company for instance. He thought Central Bl&laower Company was just wonderful.
And they, and he wanted, he would go to Floridenewinter for four weeks or five weeks, and
he told me to write an editorial supporting CenMaline on some particular issue and | said, |
refused. And, god, when he came back he calleththiy together, my mother and my uncle,
the power holders at that point and, you know, hated me fired because | wouldn't publish
the... They of course would not do that. But henhember him coming back one time telling
me proudly that Central Maine had hired some caastd to try to improve their public

relations image. They had quickly decided on speawple, or gals to be hired to run cooking
schools. You know, how to use electric ovens amlahd that thing, and then he said that this
company had also recommended that they get a Datacttheir board of directors, and he
said, we went around the table and we all agreeé ndus, none of us knew a Democrat
gualified to be-. Ironically, my father eventuatlsigned his seat, he was retired, and Carlton
Day Reed who was a Democrat was president of thetes@t one time and made a dodge for the
governorship, but succeeded him on that directes. But they, so, oh yeah, it was tough. But
he also had a terrible turnover. In the five ydarss here we had seven editors that he, he hired
and fired. And he, another request he made whevakdn Florida at one point was that | hire
somebody, and | said, “No, I'm not going to hirenebody. This person will be fired after a few
months, I'm just not going to get involved in thatou want to hire somebody, you do it.”

NC: Was it because of managerial differences atigall differences?
CN: Oh, no, he was a very tough manager. He wey piver everything. And if somebody

in there was not to his likinguintelligible phrase). So, no, John Cole and Peter Cox, | don't
know whether those names mean anything to youhleytfounded thdaine Times. Peter was



my editor in Bath, and John was editor here in Bwiok. And then when we went daily, they
stayed on to do that and help us to make that esiore and then they went off to start the
Maine Times. And so, there was a great difference in thetipaliphilosophy of the paper. We
endorsed Democrats on a regular basis. We did,ssmendorsed some Republicans
occasionally but, when it was appropriate. Buthyeee were known as a Democratic paper
from then on.

As a matter of fact:ditor & Publisher has a year book and, and | don't know, | don'ttwina
son's doing, whether he's going to change it, 'butr for Democrat, you know, political
affiliation of the thing, | wrote Democrat. Mostthem are independent, you know, for all of
these, “independent” which was horseshit becauseave a Democratic paper and our readers
know that. But this is a liberal community, too,ismakes a difference. But we have a, you
know, a military group who generally tend to be senvatives so we hear from them on a
regular basis.

NC: Makes for interesting reading. So you returtteMlaine in the mid-fifties, just in time to
really get a feeling for how the Democratic pargsxhanging. In Maine | was wondering if you
could tell me about how you saw that begin to depel

CN: Well, I had gone to some Democratic meetings,John Donovan who used to be at
Bates and was down here at that time. So | usgd to some of the, they would have
workshops on working out programs and planks amigwa other things. It was an interesting
time. But | got out in '52 and went down to Dupahthat time and really didn't get active in the,
I'd gone to two or three Republican conventions, beecause | was working for Margaret Chase
Smith, | just wanted, | mean the three nincompdbps she was running against, '48 | guess it
was. It was just awful, Horace Hill wharintelligible phrase) at Bowdoin and big buddy of my
father's. But they just were, they were just tia¢us quo all the time. And so getting her elected
was a major thing. So that was the only way oflwor

And Ed Muskie, in '56 when | got back, | got backlune and he was running for election and
so forth, and | was asked to take him around tlopslon the Main Street in Brunswick and to a
shoe factory which was in a large mill building éerAnd that was extraordinary to see, he was
just such a good person on the campaign trail. @miee things that was unique about him was
his height. You really don't figure that in patians as much, but for instance the worktables at
the mill, and they could go down, and he could lneacer and do both sides. You know, | mean,
from one side he could reach over and do the othed we had, | remember one guy, | was
trying to think of who it was, it was some poliici who was running for some, county
commissioner or whatever, I've forgotten who it wBsit he was maybe five-eight, something
like that. Well, he had to run all the way arouadjet all the hands of people working at these
things. And it just, Ed could do so much morevdis just, it was amazing. And then he just had
the charm, these employees would be notified thagki®é would be there, and they'd have their
cameras sitting at their, on their tables and sihnfoAnd he'd, “oh, can | take you picture,” and
he'd say, “here, why don't | have one of my stafkbtour picture together.” | mean, he just had
this touch that was just so easy and relaxed anmdartable. It was just like a movie star

coming in to the area, and you know, that hadrénlieue for any liberals or Democrats for a
long time.



So, | was not here for his first election, but thaé | was working with him on that score. And
very modest, just taking him around, introducingnhiOne of the more interesting times, on
that, we had an old grocery store on Main Strebickvwas our biggest grocery store. And |
happened to, | walk in with Ed and he was talkimgdame people, and | saw my mother getting
out of her car to go into that grocery store amdlked down and | said, “Mother, Ed Muskie's
here, would you like to meet him?” And she saltl father not, thank you,” and she went on
into the store. |told Ed that later on. She ¢wally voted for Kennedy and voted for Muskie,
but it was a difficult transition.

NC: For her.

CN: Yeah, but she got there. She got, she listemed; brother and myself after. We helped
to persuade.

NC: Interesting. This seems like a good time toasout Paul Hazelton.

CN: Well, Paul, delightful professor, taught edimatas you may know. A wonderful
activist. | think he had a great relation withpdk one of his education courses. No, no | tdok i
from his predecessor, I'm sorry, | took it from piedecessor. But Paul was just always active
in the party and active in everything. Did goooh¢s in the community, Paul was just a doer.

NC: Did he have some connection with Muskie, or -?

CN: Oh Ithink, yeah, I think he was, he was alwaysking on his campaigns and so forth
and, you know, | think he was writing material aratious other things. But a, a fine, nifty
person. Had a retarded son who's still around kymwv, a long-term problem, but he's here and
still in town, and gray hair now and a sad caseth®g, he had a burden to carry, but everybody
has something to carry.

NC: So you mentioned that Brunswick is a -

CN: Paul was also a moderator of the town meetmd®psham.
NC: In Topsham.

CN: Yeah.

NC: You mentioned that Brunswick is a liberal, nyltdberal town. Was it that was also in
the fifties, or -?

CN: Yeah, yeah. It always has been a liberal tdvecause of the college, I think that's had
influence. And the Democrat, | mean the workerhemills were all in the Democratic Party,
that was part of their strength and gave them sactieity. And you had Bath Iron Works who
had a lot of employees and they tended to be instrae area, in this area. So it, yeah, and then
later in the sixties, we had protests on Vietnanthenmalls.



David Graham was a columnist in our paper and Jédim and Peter and | got into battles over
that because | had finally put a limit on how méainyes he could write a column, he was our, a
local columnist and in the week, particularly thias in the weekly before we made the
conversion, then he was in there afterward. Batid, two columns a month is the limit on what
he could do on Vietnam, he ought to be talking alotluer things going on, and | said, “Okay, if
you won't do it I will, I'll fire him if that's whiayou want.” Well, 1 did fire him. Then a few
years later he came back and | threatened toifineagain and he's still working.

But it was, but he was, we were, the Vietnam thuag a big issue in Brunswick. They had silent
vigils on the mall, there were all kinds of actyvitl was on the, actually | was on the town
council, the board of selectmen for three yearsgndypart of that. And there was a, we had to
give permission, the selectmen had to give peromns& have a protest vigil on the mall and
they, so it was, there were three of us on thedba#o voted for it every time, and two did not
vote for it. And so it was a close thing.

But there was a lot of protest and it was a, Ikhire town has been liberal. They did a lot of
good things, they have a recreation-

End of Sde A
SdeB

NC: We're resuming the interview with Campbell Nive

CN: So Ed got up and said that he, his speech etesialed on tariffs on shoes, which was
important in Maine. There was a lot of shoe induatrd so forth. And he said, but he said, “I'm
going to talk about civil rights and what's happenin this country on those areas.” He says,
“There are copies of the remarks | would have n@aden the front desk and you can pick one
up if you want on the way out.” And then he talkedabout an hour and a half, on a hot,
steamy night in Maine, to an audience where yon'dithve blacks anywhere around and civil
rights was something that they really were notkimg about. And he just talked about the
importance of this and the future of our countrige Terrible things that were happening to
blacks around the country why it was so vital toifdaand everybody else that we have this.
And | remember walking out of that and talking wéttime people on the way out, and | says,
“You know, I've come to an awful lot of these mags to listen to politicians and so forth,” and
| said, “For the first time you walk away proudyafur senator for having been that way and that
strong.”

The interesting thing to me also was the contriteyears that Muskie and Margaret Smith
were in office. And the huge difference in the vilagy ran their offices, or the way they ran
their lives and did their thing. Margaret was sége, you probably have this from all kinds of
other people, but she lived in the same househiraddministrative assistant did. And when
she, one of the local TV stations did a day inlifieeof Margaret Smith, had her getting in her
car and driving around and then stopping to pickepadministrative assistant there, in the
same house. He had an apartment on another fflobit, was just bullshit.



But Ed was open and he, | went to him about, ane tigot up, we got into a little problem out
here with the Naval Air Station, and they wantethtdd a new commissary and that was going
to take a lot of grocery business from our loctditers and so forth, and a lot of other business.
And a friend of mine was active in the Chamber, aetsse in the Chamber of Commerce
committee, which was trying to work on that probleédénd he asked me who he should contact
in Washington and | said, “Well, | think you ougbtcontact Margaret Smith, she's on the
Armed Services Committee and that's where thigthests.” And so he said, “Well, she never
answers her mail.” And | said, “Well, that is ablem.” And | said, well at least send the same
letter to the two of them at the same time.

Well he didn't, he wrote to Muskie because he, weitlen to Muskie before and he got an
answer. And we went down to have a meeting in Misloffice. And Margaret, the whole
delegation came, but Margaret made this huge ploaitshe was on the Armed Services
Committee and she hadn't been contacted and skeikmnas Cam Nivens doing, that this Cam
Nivens was a friend of that guy ain{ntelligible phrase), and she went through this tirade. And
then she left before they, she just wanted to nhakepoint. This was Margaret, Petty. And she
had a place in Brunswick where she, she had a suplaee here and her administrative
assistant had a house next door. And we askednestime to be a volunteer chairman of the
summer time summer visitors campaign of the Unvi&y. She, sent this letter back saying she
didn't have any residence in Brunswick, she digante any, had no connection with that and so
forth, and wouldn't have nothing to do with it.

I'd been to her houser(intelligible phrase) with my parents and, you know, | mean, the house
was there and she lived inside that house and spgmbd deal of time there for over fifteen
years. Always denied she had it. Now, whethesai$ in some sort of a trust in which it
belonged to somebody else, you could get awaythét | don't know. But it was her, that was
Margaret Chase Smith's house.

And then there was a great vote in the senate dowrthing about who was going to be
appointed to the Atomic Energy Commission. Andra point it got down to a very close vote,
and Margaret was the next to the last person tmlddwmw she was casting her vote. And she
enjoyed all of the attention and she lived witkagty happily, but of course what that meant was
she didn't influence anybody else's vote by whatstagement she made at that point because
everybody else had cast their lot. And that'sgust sad way to run offices and so forth.
Margaret made, | give her full credit for her deateon on McCarthy in 1950, but every time she
was introduced to a Maine audience thereaftergettie introducer mentioned that declaration
or she mentioned it. One or the other. You nexamt, and | saw her a lot of times at her
appearances and activities, but that was her,igidigiht of her career.

But Ed was such a shining star and had such gosatnand of things. It was a very proud time.
| was over in New Hampshire when he was campaggouer there, not at the time he got into
the bruha with th&nion Leader, but over to try to go and talk with news serype®ple about
who | was and this and that. And it was a delighjust participate in that modest activity
because he was just a superb individual. And wigat he did for our, in cleaning up the water,
and not only in Maine but around the country, alhdfahe other landmark pieces of legislation
that he got through. And then his term as theflbeirm as the secretary of state. He never



would embarrass anybody in the state of Maine, && such an outstanding person.

NC: Earlier you were talking about Vietham and ahlmwl rights and the environment. When
he ran under Hubert Humphrey in the vice presidétitket in '68, what was your perception of
how people in Brunswick and how people in centradauthern Maine viewed Muskie's
attempts to go for a presidential ticket?

CN: Oh, I thought, I think, oh, I think they werery proud of him. You know, Hubert, |
mean, Ed outshone Hubert, no question about iedmhe was way head and shoulders above,
and he damned near pulled the whole off. It waslbof a comeback, for Ed to come back from
the Chicago convention and that horrendous timesarfdrth. It was a, really a remarkable
achievement and | take nothing but pride in hisguarance and his work.

NC: Then in'72 you have him running for the Denaticrnomination for president. How did
you see that campaign begin and how did you pezdeending?

CN: Well, the, it started with his being the framtner. | guess it was, in '70 it was, he was
featured inTime Magazine and so forth, this was the thing. Actually, | fedvas chairman of

the New England Newspaper group and the Samoset bimtned down which was where we
were going to have our convention, so we had tarsbte to, and we put everybody on a boat
out of Portland, you got up to Canada and backth&e was one night on that, and everybody
at the Holiday Inn in Portland, and, the next njgimd Ed was the speaker. And at that time that
was, you know, there was a huge turnout becauseadhe leading candidate at that particular
time. But it (nintelligible word), you know, started early on and what the Nixonit&/Rlouse

was doing was going at this, Ed's breakdown, it iwwagh. But he was, he was an emotional
guy, he had a temper and nobody denied that. Bahwuley started attacking Jane he was really,
that really got to him. But he had been, you knth&re had been all kinds of things sent out,
that he'd sent a letter referring to the Frenchpfeeas frogs and all this other. You know, some
visual things he'd done, and he got to know what appening but nobody would believe it,

and that the White House was doing it and thatwlais an organized structure in the White
House (nintelligible word). It was a, | think it was horrendously toughtom, and obviously it
was, I'm sure there were a lot of things happehatite didn't know about at that point, but it
was a very unfair, hugely unfair thing. And thahefabitch Nixon got what he deserved, but
fortunately for Sam Ervin and some others who edrthe ball and got the, made sure the
information got out.

NC: Now, you mentioned earlier the attack on Janske from William Loeb at the
Manchester Union Leader. Being in the newspaper business, | was wonddfryau could just
touch on that newspaper and on Loeb himself.

CN: Loeb was a sonofabitch. Awful. He just haduatly no standards except that he was
going to be the, he wanted to be the king mak&lew Hampshire, and he certainly was.
Everybody came and paid court to him. New Hampshvis the first in the Country primary
gives him great advantage and particularly in Répaib politics. | had dinner with him one
night in a newspaper group in Boston, and musasay dining companion, when he wasn't
talking about politics, he turned out to be a reabde person. But you just couldn't forgive



what he did in that paper, and what he did to tapuRlican Party having a jump into this thing.
| was, delighted when Sununu was picked by Nixaah latold a friend of mine who was a
banker in New Hampshire at that time that Sununulevbe out within six months. It took a
little longer than that, but | said, he'll do him iAnd it, but @inintelligible word) just, one of the
great things is in the business, you have to defegualy like that. If you own a newspaper, you
have the right to write what you want, and thatgeat thing in this country. And I, you know,
we've run against the tide in our paper a numbéneds but that's, you have to defend the right
for people to do it. But the old saw is, neverigét a fight with a guy who buys his ink by the
barrel. And, you know, that is an important thirf§o, he was a maverick, fortunately
newspapers aren't in that, don't misuse their pewdre did, | think. And, but he had to just live
with that. And there are some strange ones araulad,of them in the southurtintelligible
phrase).

NC: Did you ever encounter Frank Coffin?
CN: Oh yeah, yeah.
NC: Can you tell me about him?

CN: Well Frank was, Frank was marvelous. A wondddgwyer, he was about the stiffest
campaigner, when he ran for governor, I've even.séewas, Frank thought if you wrote down
everything you thought you ought to do for the et and talked about each one of those
points, and | think at one time there were twergdyes or twenty-eight points that he wanted to
do. Well, the eyelids would droop and so forthut Brank as a person, there was just no finer
person, and he should have been sitting on theeBwgCourt, he ended up, you know, on the
court of appeals. He still lives in, has a platélarpswell, Maine down here and he's written,
revised his book two or three times to update ihwiew things. And lawyers I've talked with
just say it's the best book on the appeals pramegsppellate court. He's just a charming guy.
And he was, but he, he brought the party back whlethe guy that, Muskie wouldn't have been
there unless Frank Coffin had been there and adisdom.

| guess one of the things | was amazed at abowdsdhat he had a very tough time financially,
and it's one thing for somebody to be at ease lenhave good salaries and comfort and, you
know, various other things. He and Jane just hadas a struggling time and he was, took up
Office of Price Administration or some job up in Wkville, and then he ran for the legislature
and that paid virtually nothing, and so it was aymeugh time. And, I'm sure you've got it from
other people about when he was offered the segretatate's job by Carter, he had to call Jane
to see whether he could take it because it wawerlealary at that time. It was some peculiarity
that the cabinet people didn't get as much asdhgress were making and so forth and so on.
So he would be taking a pay decrease, and it wasfdrgotten what it was, three or four
thousand dollars, but that was a major thing aag$ahey were concerned. And Jane got back to
him and said, “Well, you know, we can do it.” Aodtil he retired a year later, he'd been in
tough, it had been tough for him. And then sudgéel got some wonderful paychecks and
good days and so forth. It was just great fun sohém enjoying those.

He had a tough time trooping around the golf cauide had a temper when he wasn't playing



well, which was frequently the case, he was na@pl camper. And he was always, | think,
frustrated by Bill Hathaway, who's such a greategel

NC: Really?

CN: Oh yeah, he was | don't know, three or fourdi@aps. And he played a lot. But Ed was
not happy at the golf course at that particulanpoBut he, even in those times, he just always
seemed comfortable, very comfortable with himself.

One of the times when he, | was walking him aroBnghswick and went over to the house of a,
somebody that had a house on a mall in town. Asald, “Ed, how can you do this campaigning
day after day. | just think this is, I think it wigl just be boring. Not physically difficult, bjust
boring.” And he said, “That's the most difficulinp of everything, all of the time out here
campaigning, say it's six weeks, and you really gon't have time to use your creative
processes to accomplish anything of any note.” &ii@, §You're just going around shaking
hands, making the same speech you made.” He“¥aid,don't have time to address anything.”
When you come from the Senate where you haveraceha do all kinds of things, and you've
got people approaching you and suggesting this atihthe other and you're sifting ideas and,
you know. And he said, “We come up here and fom&eks you're shut away and you're doing
nothing, not anything in that range at all.” Sowdypcalls you from the office and tells you, you
know, should we send a letter to so and so, orldhee do this, or something, you know, it's
housekeeping details. But, he said, “You just, gimengage your mind for that time.” And he
said, that's the tough part of it, to do that fattlong a period when you know there are so many
things you could be doing and accomplishing at poént. Interesting observation on the
campaign.

But he had awfully good people, Shep Lee and DaolNand all. You know, just, he had good
people and used them well and occasionally gava ti@y hell, but over time he got great
results from the staff.

NC: Did you have contact with Ed Muskie after, e seventies or eighties?

CN: Yeah, yeah, we did, yeah. Frequently at fumsti And I'd gotten to know Jane
comfortably, and | would occasionally ask her aldost is he still enjoying this work with the
law firm and all these other things. And she, hefothe money, he loves the money and, she
said, we both do.

Now her brother, whose name was Howard Gray, whs) vean the Waterville paper for many
years. And so I've known him through that and dksae, so | had a special feeling on it. But Ed
would, and as | had a little longevity in his heaml so that frequently at functions he would see
me or somebody, we'd talk about the old days wivas sort of a fun thing. But he'd come here
every, maybe twice a year he'd come here for amvigiw with our editorial staff so we saw him
at that point. He just went around the state addidt with all of these papers. As did Bill
Cohen and Hathaway. Margaret didn't, of course isrched to a different drummer. But, so
that you saw these people on a regular basis. Gewtge Mitchell, George went to Bow-, he
was at Bowdoin at the same time | was. And solha@wvn him for a long time. So there was,



you saw those people on a fairly regular basis.

NC: Did you ever get a feeling for what sort ofeetfthe '72, the lack of a nomination in '72
had on Ed Muskie?

CN: | never saw, | never saw a negative thing o would have thought he would have had
that, but | didn't see it and I... You know, you wabhlave thought after All the President's Men
came out and so forth at that time, it would haserba time when he might have, | think he just
wanted to concentrate on what was ahead. I'myswree got the, you've had the people telling
of the battle when, when Ed was offered the segretastate’'s appointment and had a meeting
at the Naval Air Station with the governor.

NC: No.

CN: Well, Joe Brennan was governor and if Ed resigio take the post of Secretary of State
Brennan would have the opportunity to name hisessar. Ed requested a meeting with Joe at
the Naval Air Station. And the session went onfifigg hours. And Joe had other people he
wanted to nominate for that post. And Ed saidpifi yon't appoint George Mitchell I will not
resign. And that was the deal. And it took a Itinte for Joe to, and | don't know, I've heard

that he wanted to appoint Ken Curtis or others,iainy case it was a, that was. So here he was,
you know, having the chance to take a job that &g @bviously interested in and was a nice,
would be a nice final feather in his cap and sthfdvut he was not about to let the state of

Maine down. So there he was, you know, right, thiadl was 1980 that he was doing.

NC: He had priorities.

CN: That was what he wanted. So he, | don't kdewever backed away, there were things
where, you know, he got involved in some other sielere he was on special three person
committees and so forth to make reports on. | timlsome of Reagan's stuff and so forth. And
he just, he just stayed with it and continued utyitt to be right, till he left the Senate. And
certainly as Secretary of State he did a good b just never saw that thing, and it would be
easy for somebody to run and hide. But of coueshdd the Senate to go back to, and that
made, that makes a big difference when you stikehgur authority and power in that body.
And he used it very effectively.

NC: When you think to the sixties and the sevenpesticularly in Brunswick, of the
Democratic Party and the general atmosphere mallificand then you think about the late
nineties and now, do you see a major contrast?

CN: Well I think we, I think the area that | thik right off the bat is cleaning up our rivers
and doing that. The environmental change has bege. hit was just a wonderful thing. It got
started under his leadership as far as I'm condeamal so that that is, that's just a marvelous
thing. We have an old walking path out here althregriver in Brunswick. It's just a great
delight for people. And we've just, two major bwydand, putting conservatiomrfintelligible
word), we're going to have a path that will go from tiver down to the ocean through, near the
college, and the college has given some land amet®tvinding through and so on. And just to



accomplish this major effort and time. Preservéaran two or three years ago at the southern
entry was to Freeport, to the town, on a hundrebisixty acres and a farm and so forth. And all
of these, it's just things that have gone fromtor@nother. And I think, | think that's the legacy
that | think is most noticeable.

The economy here has been, in this area, has loetty good. We've had the Naval Air Station,
we've had Bath Iron Works, we've had L.L. Bean aaibus other things, we have an L.L. Bean
factory in town.

NC: In Brunswick?

CN: Yeah. And so it, this has been an awfully gplatte to live. And the college, of course.
It's sort of interesting, but Brunswick is uniquethe fact that there's no dominant force. Bath is
dominated by Bath Iron Works, Freeport is domindtgdean. Here people listen respectfully
(unintelligible phrase) the business community, to the, to Leon Gormde ifpeaks, to the
president of the Iron Works if he speaks, the piedi of the college if he speaks, but nobody
dominates the community.

NC: There's a discourse.

CN: There’s a discourse going on. And the collegently built a building, an administration
building, on the main street on a piece of landttiven had bought. It was going to be
developed somewhere and they wanted control gbribygerty. And the first client to build in
there was the college who were crowded on the camphis is administration offices,
treasurer's office and public information and atids of related functions. And a great spot for
the college, at least within thenjntelligible word) of good working space and convenient
parking and so forth, and it's just half a block]@ck from the campus. But it took a lot of
cooperation and so on. But that also forged a gomgperative here between the town and the
college and it's been going very nicely and théegel has opened up the process to the
community. When they were going to build this buntyl should you have brick-, first should
you have hardwoods or whatever it was and so farttd,we all thought it was going to say
brick, and the neighbors said there's not a braksk in our neighborhood. The only one's that
are brick are the Shop 'n' Save Supermarket afartp we don't want that, we want wood
siding and so forth, and so that's what they @at.there's been cooperation | think a lot.

The employment is something | think is somethirag'thgoing to be difficult. We've ended up
with a huge number of jobs like these call systgrog, know, Envisionet and that kind of thing.
That's a real problem. MBNA pays pretty good sesa And for a place like Belfast, who's had
tough luck with chicken, the poultry industry. Ropwas big when | came back here, and faded
very quickly. But the call centers certainly warenajor improvement, but it was a long time
before they came. And the potato industry is dyingg You've got the, certainly the two
different Maines. You got the, you know, it's atfatlife, and it hasn't been changed very much.
(Unintelligible phrase) decreasing populations in Aroostook county, anreast, tough and
serious.

My grandfather came from, and my grandmother, cleom down in Cherryfield, way down



east. And I'd go down there occasionally on a famsibnd, the Campbell family had an island
off the coast. And it's tough, hard scramble kivdown there. And it's certainly very different.

If you talk about life is from Sagahadoc along tleast, Knox county and Sagadahoc and
Lincoln and Cumberland and down to York, life hagib pretty good for all of us. Life has been
pretty tough for the other part of that state, stiitlis. And | don't see many things happening to
change it. | think Angus is great about that,imkigetting these computers into, into kids', you
know, better training for the jobs of the futuredsuld be a major step. Which unfortunately the
legislature has hemmed and hawed so long thatvtbelt have the same leadership in the
country that it would have had. But I think that/gortant. We do have, because we skipped
one generation of network telephone communicati@nstep that generation and move to a new
one, and so we're better off than most stateslait$ ta major asset.

Then you @nintelligible phrase), people find it a very attractive place to livend retirees are
moving in and they don't burden the school systefrsd they also bring with them, in a lot of
cases, considerable wealth and which they're gilllnshare with people and do a lot of things,
and that's going to help over time. And so museanasaquariums and things like that will
come along and there'll be a strong support foplgedor doing, preserving the way of life,
many areas. So | think that in some part of theeghings are, in the coastal part, it's goinigeto
pretty bright and good. | think the rest of thatstwill continue to go down, be difficult.

NC: Interms of living as a citizen and a newspajaar in Brunswick, it must be exciting to in
some sense act as mediator between the variougptved work around Brunswick that you
mentioned, and the citizens. | mean, it must pkeasure | would think to try and make the two
groups work together.

CN: Yeah, itis, it's been fun to, you know, ob\styuyou get caught in the middle sometimes.
But one of the things about coming back here, Wwhitracted me, that you could be, make a
difference in the community.Ufintelligible phrase) | was active in trying to expand our new
library in Brunswick, it's a, our library is a mataus building. I'm on that board and chairman
of the budget committee. Raising that money welsadlenge, and we got that done. | was chair
of a new committee to build a, building a new htapn Brunswick and. The first new hospital
built in Maine in twenty-five years. And that waght when | was activeugintelligible word)
Bowdoin capital campaign. There's certainly, treeelots of things you can do and enjoy.
Saving Joshua Chamberlain's house was one thas thair of that campaign sixteen years ago
when the house came on the market. And that's,gr@a know, and it, so yeah, there are a lot
of enjoyable things on that score, to try to ddtkelwork on activities. And you candoitin a
small town. And the board of selectmen had failleo very sad shape at one point. And that's
why | ran for that. It was my one and only terncdogse it just, the board is loaded with bad
people and, so, but as | say, | only ran for onm feut, and that's what | did just to get off it.
There was a great conflict of interest obviouslyp@ing on the board and paper so, John Cole
was our editor and | said, “John, as long as I'nthai board, any talking about municipal
editorials, you write the editorials and you detexethe policies.” And that was just, that was a
very easy way to handle that | was comfortable witt and John was comfortable with it.

So we've, you know, it's been great we have greatagement in town. We have the town
manager who preceded our present one was hereyteightt years. And the present one has



been here eleven years and done a great job dodis@nd so on. So it's been a great place to
be a manager of something, there's been good dupgpot a new high school five years ago,
which took us a long time to get where it was gdmbe, which was a great problem. But,
yeah, it's been a, it's been a refreshing, andave h nice mix of some industries that helped.
BIW, got a lot of work ahead of it, | think, | assa, unless George Bush tries to shut it down or
do something evil, we were just very fortunate aodrwhat we've got.

NC:

CN:

NC:

CN:

Well, unless you've got something else yold to add -
No.
Okay.

That's fine. Enjoyed talking with you, | alveagnjoy talking.

End of Interview
moh283.int
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